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INTRODUCTION

Graham Greene later confessed that “a sense of mischief and irresponsibility” had stirred in him. Maybe a U.S. immigration official roused his renowned anti-Americanism with the question “Ever been a member of the Communist Party?”1 While he could not have anticipated that a student prank at twenty years old would provoke immigration problems three decades later, the well-traveled British writer surely knew a candid answer would cause trouble. His four-week membership of the party at Oxford in 1925 had unintended consequences, as would this encounter with overzealous officialdom at San Juan Airport in 1954.

During the late 1940s and early 1950s, Joseph McCarthy’s anticommunist paranoia stoked hot the temperature of the Cold War. The Republican senator was engaged in a high-profile witch hunt to drag out alleged reds from under many beds in the United States. For example, the House of Representatives’ Un-American Activities Committee summoned scores of writers, film directors, and actors from the U.S. entertainment industry to appear and face an “Are you now or have you ever . . . ?” line of questioning.

Following Greene’s affirmative reply to U.S. Immigration in Puerto Rico, they deported him to Haiti and onward to Cuba, an unplanned visit just ten days after an uneventful one-night stay. His eye-opening return to Havana inspired him to resurrect a decade-old outline for an espionage story, originally set in Estonia before the Second World War. In fact, an unintended consequence of his 1954 deportation was one of his most iconic novels, set in the Caribbean fleshpot “where every vice was permissible and every trade possible.”2

The spy fiction satire Our Man in Havana hit bookshops in early October 1958, just twelve weeks before Fidel Castro led his bearded rebels to victory in the Cuban Revolution on January 1, 1959. The “our man” of the novel is James Wormold, an expatriate vacuum cleaner salesman living in Havana, recruited by the British Secret Service for their Caribbean network. He invents subagents and intelligence in order to increase his remuneration and fund his spoiled daughter’s extravagant tastes. One bogus subagent flies over the “snow-covered mountains of Cuba” in an attempt to obtain photographic evidence of strange constructions.3 His Secret Service superiors in London swallow his phony reports of military installations, and the sense of farce increases.

Greene’s fictional account of invented intelligence not only encapsulated the period’s tension and East-West paranoia but also accomplished something far more fascinating. It managed to presage in an almost psychic manner the Cold War’s most perilous event: the Cuban Missile Crisis.

Much like his writing contemporary Ian Fleming, Greene knew the political and espionage worlds he portrayed extremely well. Both Greene and Fleming had worked for British intelligence during the Second World War. In the 1950s, they both introduced MI6 (the Secret Intelligence Service, or SIS) agents as main protagonists in new novels at the height of the Cold War. The two authors both named their fictional spies James and gave each a Double 0 code name. Ian Fleming’s agent was the suave James Bond, 007, who led a glamorous lifestyle and enjoyed multiple sexual liaisons with attractive women, many of them fellow spies. Beginning with his first appearance in 1953’s Casino Royale, which kicked off a long series of novels, Bond drove a Bentley (among other classic British cars) and drank “shaken not stirred” martinis.

Graham Greene’s fictional protagonist, on the other hand, is the austere James Wormold, agent 59200/5. British intelligence services employ him as their man in Havana, where he has lived alone with his teenage daughter, Milly, since his American wife abandoned them. He has a limp, drives an ancient Hillman, and his only extravagance is the frozen daiquiri he drinks at a street bar every morning with his German friend Dr. Hasselbacher. Meanwhile, the local police captain, a sadistic torturer on the payroll of the island’s ruthless dictator, is trying to seduce Wormold’s sixteen-year-old convent-school daughter. Plain James Wormold was the antithesis of debonair James Bond.

Wormold’s spy persona owed something to Greene’s own Second World War experience in the Secret Intelligence Service, first in the forlorn outpost of Freetown in Sierra Leone, and later at a Mayfair desk working under notorious Soviet mole Kim Philby. Greene later drew on episodes from his SIS work and the impending Cold War in his espionage fiction.

The odd-sounding name “Wormold” mimicked the name of one of his romantic rivals, Brian Wormald. The former Anglican priest competed with him for the attentions of Catherine Walston, Greene’s American-born goddaughter and his mistress between 1946 and the late 1950s.4 The name itself conveys the decay and disorientation of an old worm, a moldy worm, or the worm (aka spy) that turned. Although in the case of the Cambridge Spies—most notorious among them Kim Philby, Guy Burgess, and Donald Maclean—their turning by the NKVD (Soviet secret police agency, forerunner of the KGB) occurred before the British government recruited them to work at its heart: in the Foreign Office, the Security Service (MI5, responsible for intelligence within the UK), and the Secret Intelligence Service (SIS/MI6, responsible for intelligence outside the UK).

Ian Fleming’s James Bond caught the attention of the mass reading public; his series of novels later turned into a successful and continuing film franchise. Our Man in Havana would find a film life as well. Just six months after publication, film director Carol Reed and screenwriter Graham Greene arrived in post-revolutionary Havana to shoot a black-and-white adaptation of the novel. This was the same directing/screenwriting partnership behind The Third Man, the critically acclaimed 1949 film set in postwar Vienna. Famed for its resonant zither music score and a memorable performance from Orson Welles, The Third Man was a classic of film noir. Despite the star billing of British actors Alec Guinness and Noël Coward, the Reed/Greene collaboration Our Man in Havana failed to command anything approaching the same critical reception or attention. Both works excel, however, in evoking the atmosphere of time and place: the postwar ruins of Vienna, and the pre-revolutionary decadence of Havana.

Compared to Ernest “Papa” Hemingway’s lengthy presence in Havana, Greene’s multiple visits there are largely overlooked and certainly less celebrated. Defying advice in Greene’s novel that it was “a city to visit, not a city to live in,” the giant of American literature lived in Havana from the late 1930s until 1960, following initial visits in 1928 and 1932. He resided at the Ambos Mundos hotel in Old Havana before acquiring a house on the city’s outskirts. When he was not standing at his typewriter hammering out novels, the all-action author was hooking four-hundred-plus-pound blue marlin from his beloved boat Pilar, in a period when the Florida Straits were teeming with giant fish. Furthermore, as opposed to Greene’s single spy fiction satire, Hemingway set several novels and short stories in and around the island. These included To Have and Have Not (1937), The Old Man and the Sea (1952), and the posthumous Islands in the Stream (1970).

Greene only visited Cuba, although nobody—until now—has fathomed how many times, least of all perhaps the author himself. When his diligent secretary Miss Josephine Reid examined the British author’s files in 1972 to list his numerous journeys abroad, she arrived at the figure of six visits to the island between 1954 and 1966.5 This ignored the fact that Greene made three separate visits to Cuba in 1954 alone. In fact, his first two very brief visits appear to have escaped both the author’s own memory and the attention of his biographers, including his “official biographer,” Norman Sherry. On these occasions, Havana was merely a stopping-off point en route to somewhere else.

In total, Greene visited the island twelve times, beginning with a very brief stop in 1938. The most significant of the three short stays in 1954 was his second, following his deportation from Puerto Rico, the unplanned visit that opened his eyes to Cuba’s “vicious” nature. His investigative trip in 1957, when he definitively began to write Our Man in Havana, was also crucial, as were his tours of the island in 1963 and 1966, when a British newspaper commissioned him to report on Cuba under Fidel Castro’s communist rule. The fact that Greene kept a diary during these four visits and wrote to confidants such as mistresses Catherine Walston and Yvonne Cloetta, aids our analysis of the trips. These invaluable sources add important information to a new introduction he wrote for his novel, first drafted in 1963 and later included in his second autobiography, Ways of Escape.

There is a Hemingway cult in Havana, with Hemingway tours, a marina carrying his name, and even a Papa Doble cocktail in his honor. A life-sized statue of El Floridita’s most famous client props up one end of its mahogany bar, setting in bronze his larger-than-life presence in Havana. Unacknowledged, however, are Greene’s many visits to his preferred watering and feeding hole. The two Anglo-Saxon drinkers did not clink glasses there, which is probably just as well. When a journalist introduced them to each other on the film set of Our Man in Havana at Sloppy Joe’s bar in 1959, the encounter was as frosty as one of Hemingway’s double-frozen daiquiris, his favorite cocktail at the Floridita just three and a half blocks away. Greene’s lunchtime cocktail of choice was the dry martini. Unlike the intricate preference of Fleming’s literary creation, he liked his martinis prepared with only gin and a smear of vermouth.6 Greene’s consumption of very dry martinis assuaged his depression and stirred his creative albeit hypercritical juices.

Thanks to this new study of Greene in Cuba, we can reimagine his tall shadow stalking the streets of Old Havana and Santiago de Cuba. Over lunch in a dark corner of the Floridita restaurant, for example, he leans into a very dry martini and eavesdrops, his piercing blue eyes observant, the mind racing. Pencil in hand, his silhouette scrawls the salient details of your conversation and physical appearance on the end flyleaf of a French treatise about love.

Greene’s novel portrayed Havana before the collision between capitalism and communism in Cuba. As he wrote the first draft of Our Man in Havana, a trinity of swanky modernist hotels opened in the Vedado district of the city. Yet twelve weeks after the novel’s publication, the Cuban Revolution interrupted the island at an advanced stage of capitalist development. Charismatic revolutionary Fidel Castro soon called an end to Cuba’s six-decades-long political and economic accommodation with its traditional ally, the United States. Havana jumped out of bed with its close northern neighbor and embraced Cold War archenemy Moscow instead. In a futile and perhaps vindictive attempt to avenge the infidelity, Washington imposed a trade blockade against the island. This, along with local Soviet-style central planning and prioritization of the countryside over the city, hindered Havana’s further economic development. Thus the pre-revolutionary backdrop of Carol Reed’s black-and-white CinemaScope film endures decades later, albeit in less pristine form. Elements that did not survive include the nude revues and casinos of Greene’s and Reed’s pre-revolutionary Havana. They disappeared when Fidel Castro eliminated them and other vestiges of capitalist vice in the Revolution’s early years.

Our Man in Havana also renders its Cold War context brilliantly. Many of the period’s global events occurred during the gestation and writing of the spy fiction satire. For example, both superpowers, as well as Britain, carried out hydrogen bomb tests as the postwar arms race heated up in the 1950s. Of course, the technological race also extended into space. Just five weeks before Greene began writing Our Man in Havana in Havana itself, the Soviet Union stunned the world—but particularly their U.S. geopolitical rivals—when they launched Sputnik into orbit on October 4, 1957. It was the first man-made object to leave Earth’s atmosphere. Another USSR satellite entered the cosmos a month later, although Sputnik II was less successful for its sole passenger. Stray dog Laika perished during the mission.

Britain’s postwar leaders, meanwhile, continued to believe their country could punch above its weight. Ian Fleming perpetuated this delusion in his escapist James Bond novels. While the country had emerged victorious from two world wars and held a permanent seat on the United Nations Security Council, its ability to project power globally had diminished considerably. This was plain for all to see when Prime Minister Anthony Eden deceived his own cabinet to order a British military invasion of Egypt after its government nationalized the partially British-owned Suez Canal in 1956. When Washington strongly opposed the action, Eden had little option but to order a humiliating withdrawal. The Suez Crisis laid bare the plain reduction in Britain’s scope to take military action independent of U.S. support.

International political bungling matched that in the intelligence world. Two senior British diplomats defected to the Soviet Union in 1951 before they could be unmasked as KGB penetration agents working at the heart of the Foreign Office. Much like the country’s self-assurance about its global power status, the affair underlined the delusion that the Secret Intelligence Service was more leak-proof than its allies’ and enemies’ intelligence services. Former intelligence officer Greene therefore used Our Man in Havana to satirize Britain’s self-delusion about its standing in the world, the ineptness of government departments, and the cover-ups they concoct to distract from their cock-ups.

Our Man in Havana is also a novel with an afterlife, prescient about not only the most perilous episode of the Cold War but also other future failures of government and intelligence. Furthermore, the title continues to resonate with readers and nonreaders alike. In the worlds of media and diplomacy, for example, “our man/our woman” denotes ad infinitum a correspondent or a diplomat abroad, anywhere from Accra to Zagreb. Some might suffer from a drinking problem or existential despair, and a recall home or transfer to another foreign posting can occur at any time. However, what our men and women all have in common is an umbilical link with their head office, to which they regularly report on conditions abroad.

During a period of the Second World War, Greene was SIS’s man in Freetown. Unfortunately, the mundane truth of the matter was that there was very little of substance to report to London from this inconsequential spot on the West African coast. When he tried to add excitement to his small corner of the intelligence world, his superiors vetoed his inspired idea to establish a brothel and hoover up loose pillow talk from foreign clientele. Nevertheless, he did later resurrect the fun and practicable idea in a little-known stage play, A House of Reputation. A more successful and hopefully now better-known legacy of his unglamorous experience in British intelligence is the 1958 novel under examination here.

In 1985, one devoted reader returned his dog-eared paperback copy of Our Man in Havana to its author with a glowing tribute. His inscription began:

There are books which you forget as soon as you’ve read them, there are some which make you read them a second time and a third time. And as to this one—I’ve been rereading it all my life both on Earth and in space. I’ve learnt it by heart.

Georgy Grechko was no ordinary Graham Greene fan. As well as sharing the author’s initials, he was a decorated hero of the Soviet space program. While orbiting Earth in Soyuz missions and the Salyut space station, the USSR cosmonaut was evidently engrossed in the novel. (He also enjoyed listening to big bands like the Glenn Miller Orchestra. After all, is there any mood music more fitting in the cosmos than “Moonlight Serenade”?) Grechko confessed to visiting all the places in Havana described in the novel and returned his “most valuable thing” to Greene with gushing gratitude just six years before the end of the Cold War.7 He was not alone in identifying multiple layers of meaning in a novel that bears repeated reading.

SYNOPSIS

Our Man in Havana’s backdrop is 1950s Cuba, an exotic fleshpot and gambling spot in the Caribbean where civil disturbances are perturbing tourists. There are early hints of global power politics when Wormold’s German drinking companion, Dr. Hasselbacher, tells him before ordering another Scotch, “We none of us have a great expectation of life nowadays” [. . .] “We live in an atomic age, Mr. Wormold. Push a button piff bang where are we?”8 It is the height of the Cold War and even in remote outposts like tropical Cuba, people fear the H-bomb threat and nuclear war.

A spruce-looking Englishman “wearing an exclusive tie” disturbs Wormold’s routine existence when he walks into his shop in downtown Havana.9 He is no ordinary customer and asks Wormold a few too many questions about his personal circumstances and the workings of a new Atomic Pile vacuum cleaner. He then leaves the shop as briskly as he entered it. Wormold’s straitened economic circumstances play on his mind. His daughter’s seventeenth birthday approaches, and a bank clerk reminds him about an overdraft when he goes to deposit a small check.

Wormold soon bumps into the Englishman again at Sloppy Joe’s. In the bar’s toilets, the well-dressed man identifies himself as Hawthorne, head of the British Secret Service’s Caribbean network. He wishes to recruit Wormold as “our man in Havana.” They arrange to meet in his hotel, the Sevilla-Biltmore, in room 501. There he gives Wormold his code number and explains his salary and expenses. He also outlines the tools of the trade, including secret ink and a book code using Lamb’s Tales from Shakespeare,* both used to communicate secure messages to his intelligence handlers.

Wormold makes clumsy attempts to recruit subagents at the country club, where Milly wants to stable a horse with the help of her suitor, Captain Segura of Havana’s police force. After receiving his first secret message from London—and having failed to recruit a single subagent—he explains his dilemma to Hasselbacher over a daiquiri at the Wonder Bar. The German doctor suggests Wormold take their money and use his imagination. After all, he says, the “[k]ingdoms, republics, powers” of the world that exploit ordinary men do not deserve the truth, and Wormold’s lies will do no harm.10

Wormold follows Hasselbacher’s advice and uses a list of country club members to invent subagents, including engineer Cifuentes and Professor Sanchez. Moreover, he later dreams up a dancer named Teresa from the Shanghai Theater, “mistress simultaneously of the Minister of Defense and the Director of Posts and Telegraphs.” He then makes an annual visit to retailers outside Havana, and two police officers assault him in Santiago when they find him in the street late at night without papers. He returns to Havana and finds Hasselbacher distraught. Someone has ransacked his home. A perturbed Wormold now decides to embellish reports from his invented subagents. Using the Atomic Pile vacuum cleaner as a model, he sketches “big military installations under construction in mountains of Oriente Province,” with scaled drawings of a “large concrete platform” and “strange machinery in transport.” The SIS chief C in London is impressed by what he believes may be “something so big that the H-bomb will become a conventional weapon,” and praises Hawthorne for recruiting a gifted agent.11

London wants photographic evidence and sends a secretary and a radio operator to assist their man in Havana with his burgeoning network of subagents. Wormold meets his new secretary during Milly’s seventeenth birthday celebrations at the Tropicana nightclub. Beatrice Severn endears herself to them both when she intentionally sprays uninvited guest Captain Segura with a soda siphon. Under pressure from Beatrice and London for photographic evidence, Wormold pretends to organize an overflight of the installations in the mountains. He entrusts the mission to invented subagent Raul Dominguez of Cubana Airlines, a pilot fond of whisky. By now, Wormold and Beatrice are falling for each other, even as she realizes he has created a web of lies and fiction. However, fiction suddenly merges into reality when Hasselbacher invites Wormold and Beatrice to his apartment for drinks and he receives a phone call informing him that one of his patients has died in a car crash near the airport. His name happens to be Raul, the same as Wormold’s fake pilot. Then another subagent, in a case of mistaken identity, is the victim of a failed assassination attempt.

Beatrice decides they must warn their other agents against the mysterious enemy that is targeting them. She and Wormold rush to the Shanghai Theater to find nude dancer Teresa. There is a girl there called Teresa and they smuggle her out. They next drive on to the address of Professor Sanchez, who happens to be entertaining a mistress. Reports of their movements reach Captain Segura, and he hauls in Wormold and Beatrice for questioning, playing them a telephone recording of a man with a stammer telling Hasselbacher of Raul’s fatal car accident. When Segura releases them, Wormold goes to confront the German doctor at his home about the recording of Raul and a copy of Lamb’s Tales from Shakespeare that Hasselbacher has in his possession.

Henry Hawthorne urgently summons Wormold to Jamaica and tells him that the enemy will try to poison him at a forthcoming traders’ lunch. Wormold is naturally reluctant to attend the event, but Hawthorne insists. On the return plane journey, he meets a rival vacuum cleaner salesman, the pipe-smoking Carter, who will attend the same lunch. Wormold notices Carter’s stammer at the event and accidentally knocks his whisky to the floor as he rises to give his lunch speech. A dachshund under the table laps up the poisoned spirit and promptly expires.

Segura visits Wormold to ask for his daughter’s hand in marriage. He also requests that Wormold accompany him to the Wonder Bar to identify a dead body. It is Hasselbacher. This third successive death—Raul, the dog, and now Hasselbacher—means Greene’s comic story has taken a further sinister twist. Wormold comes clean with Beatrice about his invented agents and tells Milly to invite Segura to their home. Wormold challenges him to a game of draughts with the checkers replaced by whisky miniatures he has collected over the years. Twelve bourbons confront twelve Scotch, and the players are to drink each lost piece. Segura’s alcohol consumption renders him unconscious, and Wormold borrows the police captain’s pistol. He telephones Carter and invites him out to go “round the spots” of Havana.12 Carter reluctantly agrees and Wormold confronts him about Hasselbacher’s killing. They exchange shots. Wormold fires the first and last bullets and kills Carter.

The game is now up for Wormold. The British ambassador calls him to the embassy after hearing concerning reports from Segura and the Foreign Office and suggests he return to London forthwith. Segura arrives to bid farewell to Wormold and Milly at the airport and hands him an empty bullet casing. In London, he has to face his intelligence masters, who know that all his reports were pure fiction. They place Wormold on their domestic training staff. In a final twist of black comedy, SIS recommends Wormold for an OBE to cover up the whole embarrassing affair.


FICTION VERSUS FACT

As one contemporary review noted, the novel is one of “unaccommodating realism.”13 The division between fiction and reality is blurred, and it is sometimes difficult to know where one ends and the other begins. Much of the novel came from reality. Greene drew from characters in his own life, as well as his travels, including several visits to Cuba before the 1959 Revolution. He journeyed to the island in November 1957 to begin researching and writing his novel in the midst of a civil insurrection that led to revolution. This included flying to the heart of conflict in the east of the island to make contact with Fidel Castro’s rebel movement. Furthermore, he discreetly involved himself in both Cuban and British politics when he made an indirect intervention to halt British arms sales to the island’s military dictatorship as it struggled to defeat Castro’s bearded guerrillas in the hills.

Greene’s interest in Cuba did not wane with the publication of his novel and the triumph of the Cuban Revolution—although its new rulers did eliminate some aspects of pre-revolutionary Cuba that Greene had enjoyed. Authoritarian rule also resumed, but in a different guise.

In April 1959, he spent several days on the film set of Carol Reed’s production of Our Man in Havana. He returned for two weeks in 1963 and again in 1966, his longest trip of all, to report on the progress of the Cuban Revolution for a British newspaper. He traveled the length of the island in a chauffeured Packard with three Cubans: a writer/journalist, a poet, and a photographer. In addition, after several frustrated efforts, he eventually met and talked at length with revolutionary leader Fidel Castro on the last evening of his three-week stay.

On his final visit in 1983, he arrived as an unofficial emissary of the Central American peace process. He stayed just twenty-four hours, meeting Fidel Castro again, this time in the company of the Nobel Prize–winning Colombian author Gabriel García Márquez. Based on annotations in the diaries he kept, Greene revealed his attitude toward Castro’s radical revolution. For example, while impressed by some social advances, he was disturbed to learn about coercive attempts to reeducate Cubans deemed outside the revolutionary process.

What follows then is the story behind a story, and the story that follows the story: about how Graham Greene arrived on holiday in Havana by mistake and stumbled upon the ideal background for a spy satire. The story within and beyond Our Man in Havana involves espionage, a love affair, travel, anticommunism, anti-Americanism, the Cold War, capitalism, gambling and prostitution, civil war, manic depression, drugs (prescription and non), dry martinis, torture, arms sales, revolution, puritanism, and communism, roughly in that order. It is the story of how Greene became politically involved in Cuba and how his fictional story mimicked his own intelligence work in Sierra Leone and London. Most of all, the story reveals how his iconic novel proved more prophetic than even its author could have imagined.


* Greene refers to the book as “Lamb’s Tales from Shakespeare” throughout Our Man in Havana, crediting authorship only to Charles Lamb. This ignores the fact that Charles’s sister Mary Lamb co-authored the book with him.
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A WRITING LIFE

Born in Edwardian England in 1904 to an upper-middle-class family, Henry Graham Greene grew up in the Hertfordshire market town of Berkhamsted, twenty-six miles northwest of London. His parents were first cousins, both descended from a prosperous brewing family in Bury St. Edmunds, a business that later became Greene King IPA. Graham’s mother was a first cousin of Robert Louis Stevenson, the Scottish author of Treasure Island (1883) and Strange Case of Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde (1886). An uncle on his father’s side had prospered in the Brazilian coffee business, and his branch of the family, the “Hall Greenes,” lived in a large house on the edge of Berkhamsted. Graham was the fourth of six children belonging to the less wealthy but more intellectually gifted “School House Greenes.” Nevertheless, a typical coterie of maids, nannies, and other servants assisted with domestic duties in the more modest of the town’s two Greene households.

His childhood was at turns both happy and unhappy. He had many relations to play with in a large family, but he was a sensitive child who did not enjoy sports. Difficulties related to loyalty surfaced when, at thirteen, he became a boarder at the private, all-boys Berkhamsted School, where his father was headmaster. As well as the new torment he suffered in senior school due to a lack of privacy and his dormitory companions’ scatological behavior, some classmates viewed young Greene as his strict father’s spy. He developed “divided loyalties” due to the duality of not belonging fully to either side; he could not ally himself with other pupils without betraying either his father or his elder brother (who was head of house), while some classmates regarded him as “a collaborator in occupied territory.” A green baize door that separated his family’s living quarters from the institutionalized school came to symbolize a transitional frontier. In his adult life and in his books, the crossing of frontiers became a common theme, as did the role of a double agent.1

One classmate, Lionel Carter, identified and exploited this conflict of loyalties. Alongside another classmate, he inflicted psychological as opposed to physical bullying on Greene that caused him profound anguish. Even so, he admired Carter’s ruthlessness and acknowledged the tacit understanding between “the torturer and the tortured.”2 He later employed this experience and the name Carter in Our Man in Havana. Disreputable character William Carter is an agent working for the other side, and toward the end of the novel, Wormold avenges Carter’s killing of his friend Hasselbacher by shooting him dead. Captain Segura—based on real police torturer Esteban Ventura—also explains the “mutual agreement” in torture and the existence of a “torturable class” in society.3

Greene found escape from mental torment in books from the school’s well-stocked library. Adventure melodramas by such authors as Stanley Weyman, John Buchan, and H. Rider Haggard engrossed him. He also marveled at the new century’s inventions. Indeed his life from 1904 to 1991 spanned all decades of the twentieth century and paralleled technological developments such as airplane flight, motion pictures with sound, the jet engine, and the atom bomb. One of his most prized childhood books was The Pirate Aeroplane (1913) by Captain Charles Gilson. When asked by the School House Gazette about his greatest aim in life, young Greene replied, “To go up in an aeroplane.”4 He was able to fulfill this ambition on numerous occasions, even flying supersonic on the Concorde in his seventies. A fastidious traveler, he admired the plane’s speed but detested its food and narrow seats.5

Nearby Berkhamsted Common provided an ideal hiding place for playing truant from school. Its First World War practice trenches represented both danger and escape. On the eve of a new term at the end of one summer holiday, Greene’s mental anguish came to a head. He left a runaway note and escaped to the dense undergrowth of the Common, where his older sister found him gorged on blackberries two hours later.6

Concern for his sixteen-year-old son’s troubled psychological state led his father to seek the advice of Greene’s older brother Raymond, a trainee doctor. Following Raymond’s advice, their father made the bold and progressive decision to send his son to London for psychoanalysis. There he spent some of the happiest months of his life, living in the Lancaster Gate home of psychoanalyst Kenneth Richmond. He enjoyed breakfast in bed, studying alone in Kensington Gardens rather than at school, and mingling with a different circle of adults. Among Richmond’s acquaintances were the novelist J. D. Beresford and the poet Walter de la Mare.

During much of the six-month period, Greene also fantasized about the psychoanalyst’s beautiful wife, Zoe. Influenced by Jungian and Freudian theories, Richmond asked his patients to recount their dreams and advised Greene to invent if he was unable to remember them. Taking the doctor at his word, the young patient took the plunge one morning and described the analyst’s naked wife to him, her breast hovering over his face.7 These experiences with psychoanalysis instilled in Greene a lifelong fascination with the subconscious and dreams. Moreover, the idea to invent when he lacked source material provided inspiration for his later spy novel set in Havana.

Greene’s pretty half-German first cousin Ave also arrived to stay at Richmond’s house during this time, and he turned his attentions to her. On free afternoons, they visited the Old Bailey to witness the country’s leading murder trials from its public galleries.8 He was already interested in the darker side of life.

He returned to Berkhamsted from London feeling more worldly and confident. While his parents allowed Greene to return to the family side of the school’s green baize door, regular episodes of manic depression continued to haunt him. He described the acute adolescent boredom he suffered in physical terms, akin to a balloon swelling ever larger in his head until it felt ready to burst.9

Greene went up to Balliol College at Oxford University for the autumn term in 1922. Unlike his school days at Berkhamsted, his undergraduate studies afforded him freedom and privacy. With a generous spending allowance from his father to support him, he enjoyed long walks, made literary contacts, and became assistant editor on a new literary magazine. He was a contemporary but not a close acquaintance of Evelyn Waugh. They socialized in different circles: Waugh in a clique of homosexual aesthetes, and Greene in a smaller, “belligerently heterosexual” set.10 Both groups drank regularly, at any time of the day, and often to excess. Demonstrating enterprise and keenness for others to finance his foreign travel, a published article in the Weekly Westminster Gazette funded a weeklong summer trip to Ireland at the end of his first year of studies in 1923.11

During a family holiday in Norfolk the following summer, he developed an all-consuming crush for his sister Elisabeth’s governess, when he spotted her exposed thigh as she lay on a beach. Despite the fact she was engaged to be married and ten years older than him, Greene bombarded her with letters and verse.12

Frustration at unrequited love and a craving for excitement to assuage his manic depression led him to try to deflate the aforementioned swollen balloon in his head. He experimented with Russian roulette on Berkhamsted Common and at Headington in Oxford. His weapon was a .32-caliber Smith & Wesson revolver, a present from a cousin on leave from the First World War to his brother Raymond that he had discovered in a corner cupboard of their shared bedroom at Berkhamsted.13 Some have questioned whether the revolver was authentic and if it fired anything more than blanks. Yet Greene insisted into old age that he really did spin its six chambers behind his back, insert its muzzle into his right ear, and pull the trigger.14 These were not attempts at suicide, but desperate injections of elation to provide distraction from what he described as boredom.

Pulling the trigger awoke manic jubilation, “as if carnival lights had been switched on in a drab street. [His] heart knocked in its cage, and life contained an infinite number of possibilities.”15 He estimated a total of six experiments with Russian roulette at long intervals of around a month, pulling the trigger a fifth and a final sixth time on Berkhamsted Common. Feeling no more excitement than taking an aspirin for a headache, he lay down the revolver forever.16

In his final year at university he joined the Oxford branch of the Communist Party as a prank in January 1925, with fellow Berkhamsted alumnus and university student Claud Cockburn. They hoped to gain a free trip to Moscow and Leningrad seven years and three months after the October Revolution. Denied that chance, Greene embarked on a ten-day visit to Paris and the city’s Communist headquarters as a card-carrying member of the Communist Party. On his first full evening a workers’ meeting bored him, so he sought distraction at a topless revue, noticed the maturity of street prostitutes, and witnessed a couple copulating from the window of his shabby hotel.17 As opposed to Greene’s short-term membership, Cockburn later became a committed party member, reporting from the Spanish Civil War for the British Communist Party newspaper The Daily Worker.

During his final months at Oxford, Greene received a private letter from a twenty-year-old secretary at Blackwell Publishers. Vivienne Dayrell-Browning was a recent convert to Catholicism and worked with children’s books and poetry. She wished to chastise him for a film review he had written that linked sex and religion. Like Greene, she had a passion for verse. Blackwell had actually accepted a volume of his verse, Babbling April, the previous autumn. It was published in May 1925, two months after her letter. Following his initial invitation to Vivienne for tea, and as their courtship developed, Greene inundated her with letters, verse, and telegrams. Unlike the short-lived infatuation with his sister’s governess, this developed into a reciprocal loving relationship.18

He graduated from Oxford with a second-class degree in modern history in 1925. After finding work as a trainee sub-editor on the Nottingham Journal, he received religious instruction from a Catholic priest in the East Midlands city. He converted to Catholicism in a simple baptism ceremony at Nottingham Cathedral in February 1926, hoping to understand his Catholic-convert girlfriend with gray-green eyes (and soon-to-be wife) Vivienne (later shortened to Vivien).

Later that year, Greene began work as a sub-editor for The Times in London, where he honed his economical writing style. In fact, his fictional prose would mimic that of his mother’s cousin Robert Louis Stevenson, with passages of descriptive action notably light on adjectives and adverbs. Indeed, admirers lauded Greene for this, for his skill in narrative, and for telling realistic and believable stories with credible characters. Like the titles of his novels, many of his characters’ names endure in Britain’s national consciousness, like the scar-faced gangster Pinkie Brown in Brighton Rock and Vienna’s returned-from-the-dead racketeer Harry Lime in The Third Man.

Although Greene’s native England served as the backdrop for several of his novels, about a third have settings in Africa, Southeast Asia, and Latin America. An overarching theme in his books is the individual’s consciousness, especially as affected by religious faith and doubt, a theme manifested through portrayals of good and evil, attitudes to politics, and common dilemmas such as loyalty and betrayal toward people, institutions, and country. His written work and persona popularized the adjective seedy. Indeed, seediness imbues many of his novels. A frequent personage in his stories is the hunted man, or a man posted abroad in a situation of existential despair—often with a drinking problem.

Greene would directly experience the Second World War, the Cold War, and other insurgencies through his work in British intelligence and as an investigative newspaper correspondent and novelist. His readership readily identified with his portrayal of generational angst in a century of social flux and devastating wars.

His first novel was the well-received thriller The Man Within (1929). Eager to forge a full-time writing career and encouraged by positive reviews, he resigned from The Times in 1929, against the advice of friends and colleagues. A publisher’s advance allowed him to produce two further books, but neither was as accomplished as his first effort. He then wrote the more commercially appealing Stamboul Train (1932), titled Orient Express in the United States, a glamorous, cross-border train journey thriller set in politically turbulent Europe. Like many of his subsequent novels, a successful film adaptation followed, bringing extra income. He continued to establish himself as an author with the publication of It’s a Battlefield (1934), England Made Me (1935), and A Gun for Sale (1936), but with a wife and now two small children to support, he struggled financially.

OUR MAN IN TALLINN

Another world war with Germany loomed during the mid-to-late 1930s, as Adolf Hitler rose to power and rearmed Nazi Germany, a period when Greene’s younger brother Hugh was the Daily Telegraph’s first assistant correspondent in Berlin. Greene visited his brother en route to Estonia in 1934, traveling first by train to Riga and thence by plane to Tallinn. Greene was reading a Henry James novel to pass the time, and by chance, another passenger was also reading a James novel. The fellow James fan was absorbed in The Ambassadors (1903), and a conversation revealed that the man, Peter Leslie, was the British vice-consul in Estonia.

Greene was reading James’s The Portrait of a Lady (1881), though he sought a particular type of lady in Tallinn, on the recommendation of another lady, the Baroness Budberg, a Russo-Baltic exile and mistress of novelist H. G. Wells, among other lovers. She later spied for both MI5 and Stalin’s KGB. The baroness had told Greene about a brothel in the Estonian capital run by the same family for three hundred years.19 Alas, Greene would not find the long-established outlet for the world’s oldest profession, if it existed. A chemist shop stood at the corner address, owned by ten generations of the same Hungarian family since 1585.

Still, Greene’s trip had led him to an interesting acquaintance. Though bachelor Peter Leslie had a solitary bearing, he had a colorful past. They shared a taxi from the aerodrome and enjoyed a vodka supper. Greene learned that following work as an Anglican clergyman, Leslie had converted to Catholicism during the First World War. He had lived in Tallinn for twelve years, had represented a munitions company as an armaments salesman, and owned shares in a South African mine. There is also ample evidence that Leslie worked for the British intelligence services while posted in Estonia.20

Given what Greene learned about him during a fortnight together in Tallinn and the fact that he later set a film outline, Nobody to Blame, in the city in the prewar period, it is a safe assumption that Leslie was an inspiration for that story. Although the character of Richard Tripp sold Singer sewing machines, his invented agents were involved in arms sales. Though Greene changed the background location of the story from Tallinn to Havana after his visits to Cuba in 1954, it is logical that Greene’s stay in Tallinn and his chance encounter with Leslie contributed to his composition of James Wormold and his espionage satire Our Man in Havana.

In the 1920s and 1930s, many of Greene’s contemporaries made hazardous trips to far-flung parts of the world to discover new lands, as well as themselves. In the winter of 1934–35—with H. Rider Haggard’s King Solomon’s Mines (1885) at the forefront of his mind—Greene made a risky journey by foot into West Africa alongside his cousin Barbara to gather material for a travelogue Journey Without Maps (1936). He obtained a commission from the Anti-Slavery Society and a contract from Heinemann publishers. Only rudimentary maps of Liberia and Sierra Leone existed for this perilous enterprise. When Greene contracted tropical fever during the three-month trip, local bearers had to haul him through the jungle. He came close to death. It was his first journey outside Europe, but only one of the many in his life to poor and troubled parts of the world.

Greene began to work as a film critic for The Spectator and Night and Day, a New Yorker–style magazine, between 1935 and 1940, viewing and writing reviews for over four hundred films. It was in this period that his antagonism toward the United States first became apparent in print. His stance cost him dearly following a successful libel suit by Twentieth Century Fox, spurred on by Greene’s review of Wee Willie Winkie (1937), in which he dared to suggest that the “dubious coquetry” and “well-shaped and desirable little body” of the film studio’s curly-haired child star Shirley Temple appealed to “middle-aged men and clergymen.” Earlier savage Greene reviews had annoyed Hollywood, but this time they sought revenge. As he wrote to his younger brother Hugh, “The little bitch is going to cost me about £250 if I’m lucky.” He was, in fact, unlucky and only half right, because he subsequently had to contribute £500 (£32,000 today [prices in parentheses adjusted for inflation]) toward the £3,500 (£240,000) High Court ruling against Night and Day. The judgment accelerated the closure of the magazine only six months after its inception.21

His first Catholic novel, Brighton Rock (1938), brought Greene his first big success and fame. It exposed the violent underworld of the coastal East Sussex resort where Greene had spent periods of convalescence, first as a sickly child and then in adulthood following an appendix operation. Later, when he was an established author, he would escape his family and London to cure writer’s block in the seaside town. Brighton Rock’s main character is the villainous Pinkie Brown, a scar-faced gang leader and doubting Catholic, who seduces Rose, an innocent waitress and fellow believer. After the Second World War, the novel became a successful film, shot on location in Brighton and starring Richard Attenborough as Pinkie. It is a classic British film noir, but Greene blamed the period’s strict censorship for watering down evil Pinkie’s religious sensibility.

MEXICO’S LAWLESS ROADS

While writing Brighton Rock, publishers in Britain (Longman) and the United States (Viking) commissioned Greene to travel to Chiapas and Tabasco in southern Mexico and report on the socialist government’s persecution of Catholics, nearly thirty years after the outbreak of the Mexican Revolution. His long-planned journey occurred in 1938, too late to witness the worst period of anticlerical violence, so he penetrated Mexico’s interior to seek out remaining pockets of religious persecution. His first visit to Latin America was a purgatorial experience, and one he would recall two decades later in Cuba during its 1956–58 insurrection. The poverty he encountered as he traveled by mule and plane through remote Mexico was as extreme as anything he had witnessed in West Africa.22

His arduous five-week visit led to two books: his second travelogue, The Lawless Roads (1939), and The Power and the Glory (1940), one of his best-known novels. It describes a whisky priest who finds himself a lone representative of the Catholic Church in a Mexican state that refuses to recognize either the power or the glory of the church. The Lawless Roads relates his Mexican journey and the religious persecution carried out to varying degrees of harshness by local governors. Socialist-run states were particularly repressive and puritanical toward priests and locals. He described Villahermosa in Tabasco as “the puritan as well as the Godless state.” To escape the prevailing atmosphere of hate, he read Trollope, while to find relief from extreme tropical heat and ravenous mosquitoes he mimicked locals and swayed in a rocking chair. Vultures on rooftops were another foreboding presence.23 He made a modest attempt to learn Spanish in Mexico through twenty Berlitz lessons, but during this and future visits to Latin America he never progressed beyond the present tense.24

The specter of the Spanish Civil War hovered over his return sea voyage from the port of Veracruz on the Gulf of Mexico in April/May 1938. Russian revolutionary leader Leon Trotsky had journeyed in the opposite direction the year before. In 1940, one of Joseph Stalin’s agents would dispatch Lenin’s former associate and ex-commander of the Red Army in Mexico City, planting an ice pick in the back of Trotsky’s skull.

On the Hamburg-bound German liner Orinoco, Greene heard a BBC radio broadcast from London in Spanish about Franco’s advancing forces. Some fellow passengers in his six-berth cabin were volunteers in berets headed for the war in Spain, suspicious of their English traveling companion. Only after their final port of call before crossing the Atlantic did they reveal themselves as Falangists, off to fight for the Fascist cause with cries of “Arriba España, Viva Franco.” According to The Lawless Roads, they barricaded the cabin door while in port to prevent anyone leaving. After departing port, one of the ship’s cooks jumped overboard rather than face returning home. Despite circling for five hours, the crew failed to locate him.25

The port of call was Havana, a destination described several times in The Lawless Roads. In Veracruz, a Pennsylvanian with “insomniac eyes” had warned Greene about the “awful” Cuban capital, worse even than Paris because of “the things they show you.” A bishop described a colleague’s experiences in Havana, apparently the worst place in the Catholic world for missions, “where hardened racketeers of the brothel and dance-hall and cocktail lounge wept.”26 Greene can only have gained a very wicked impression of Havana from such reports. In fact, its vicious reputation was a legacy of centuries past. From the 1560s until the 1780s, the Spanish grand fleet anchored in Havana’s port every year to await treasure ships from mainland Spanish America and escort their riches eastward across the Atlantic to Seville or Cadiz. The old walled city’s character transformed during the transient annual residence of five to six thousand sailors when gambling, prostitution, and criminality escalated, despite the presence of a permanent Spanish garrison.27

As opposed to his published travelogue, Greene’s handwritten “Mexican Diary” gives us a different, if very brief, account of the Orinoco’s scheduled stop at the port of Havana. It demonstrates that nobody prevented him leaving the third-class cabin. Instead, a short annotation on May 3, 1938, reports: “Havana. Had to go with the 2 women. A lousy town of touts.”28 His first-ever visit thus merited no more than a negative five-word description. The impression is of a brief disembarkation in female company, where he was unable to stray from Old Havana’s port area and only encountered locals making a living on the street. This is all we know about his all-too-brief first taste of Cuba. Subsequent visits in the mid-1950s made a far more positive impression and induced him to return time after time.

In his diary, much like his published travelogue, Greene’s obsession is with one particular fellow passenger rather than Havana. He is a big, pale German in loose-fitting clothes named Kruger, a man detectives had accompanied aboard days earlier. During the two-week transatlantic voyage, Kruger recounted to Greene in disjointed Conradian fashion his travels of the previous twenty-five years. It was such an incredible story that Greene believed every word of it, piecing it together in the epilogue of The Lawless Roads. Kruger’s global odyssey had taken the adventurer from merchant seamanship to circus work to service in the Foreign Legion, from Germany to New York, to Liverpool, the East, to Alexandria, and back to Germany again.29 Most recent was Kruger’s release from a five-month prison stretch, after plainclothes police found him on Mexico’s Pacific coast without papers. He was grateful to be alive and free, so when they passed the mist-shrouded Azores in the mid-Atlantic, Kruger advised Greene to suppress his worries and simply contemplate life. When contemplating Havana from the balustrade of the Hamburg-bound liner, however, the German lamented the city’s surfeit of “drink and women.” His immediate plan was to jump ship at Lisbon in order to avoid imprisonment in Germany.30

While he hated Mexico, The Lawless Roads demonstrates that Greene loathed the United States even more. In fact, he had arrived in Mexico via the United States, traveling overland with Vivien from New York to New Orleans. From there, his wife returned home, while he headed south to cross the border at Laredo, Texas. In his travelogue, Greene describes the inertness of U.S. advertising for “the drugstore and the Coca-Cola, the hamburger, the sinless graceless chromium world.” He also had the United States in mind because of the ongoing lawsuit over Shirley Temple.31

This first of many visits to Latin America was also Greene’s first experience of the conflict between revolutionary communism and traditional Catholicism, contextualizing his views on the region for the rest of his life. His political thinking at the time was “neither subtle nor deep.” In fact, he appeared to detest consumerism as much as authoritarian communism or fascism.32 What impressed him most was the faith of Mexicans in the face of cruel persecution. Stuck in Mexico City twenty-five years later on the way to economically blockaded Cuba in 1963, he recalled how he had been young and poor when he first visited Mexico. He remembered “the swaggering pistoleros” in Chiapas, the “politicos” who had corrupted the country’s revolution, but also the pious yet downtrodden ordinary Mexicans.33

He also evoked these experiences in Tabasco in 1938 during curfew hour in Santiago de Cuba in November 1957. In fact, the 1950s were for Greene a decade of obsessive travel to escape his troubled personal life, a trigger for his manic depression. He sought danger in order to experience risk and take him away from himself. It was for this reason that he flew to eastern Cuba in the midst of an armed insurrection. He planned to interview its leader, a lawyer-turned-rebel named Fidel Castro.
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BROTHER, SISTER, BROTHER, SPY

Greene returned home to find London on a war footing. The Officers Emergency Reserve draft board summoned and interviewed the author about war service but granted him time to complete two unfinished novels. Despite owning a large family home in Clapham, he rented a studio in Bloomsbury. Fueled by Benzedrine, he toiled there on both The Confidential Agent (1939), a novel influenced by the Spanish Civil War, and The Power and the Glory. There was financial pressure to provide for his family, and the extra stimuli induced him over six weeks to write two thousand words each morning instead of his customary five hundred. He composed his Mexican novel at a less frantic pace in the afternoons. During this period, he became acquainted with his landlady’s daughter, stage designer Dorothy Glover, and began an affair that outlasted the war. He dedicated the first, shorter title to her.

Like many other families, he evacuated his wife and children to the countryside after Germany’s invasion of Poland and the declaration of war in September 1939. A yearlong hiatus known as the Phoney War commenced when Britons feared military invasion and aerial bombardment but neither ensued. Still, defense preparations radically altered London’s cityscape. Stacks of sandbags stood outside public buildings and antiaircraft guns, tents, and trenches appeared on Clapham Common, an urban park opposite his Queen Anne house. Londoners carried gas masks, while barrage balloons floated over the city on long cables. Their deployment would provide limited protection against low-level and vertical bombing raids by Hitler’s Luftwaffe.

With the country braced for war, Greene started work at the Ministry of Information. Based in Bloomsbury at Senate House, a towering neo-Georgian building requisitioned from the University of London, his job was to produce and commission wartime propaganda for home and abroad. Perversely, rather than fearing conflict and death, the unnerving danger of wartime London thrilled him. He experienced the early war through evening volunteer work as an air-raid warden during the Blitz from September 1940 to May 1941. He often performed these duties alongside Dorothy, by then a regular cohabitant. Their Post No. 1 lay under the School of Tropical Medicine on Gower Street, with three beats bordered by Torrington Place, New Oxford Street, Russell Square, and Tottenham Court Road. There he saw many of the horrors perpetrated by Nazi Germany’s nightly bombing raids on the capital. His main duties as a warden were to enforce a blackout and assist citizens to shelters in their sector. Amid the chaos and minutiae of war, the keen-eyed writer noticed how prostitutes from a Tottenham Court Road milk bar used an air-raid shelter opposite for late-night work.1

On the other side of the city, his Clapham Common house suffered a direct hit at one thirty a.m. on October 18, 1940, with severe damage to its rear and interior. The bomb wrecked many of his home’s contents, including valuable antiques and Vivienne’s collection of Victorian dolls, but not his prized books. Scavengers pillaged much of what remained.2

The bomb also destroyed one of his most treasured possessions, a long, thin strip of paper that hung from his lavatory wall. It dangled there for a symbolic rather than a practical purpose. This was the writ served on Greene by Shirley Temple’s legal representative after he accused Twentieth Century Fox of exploiting her “for immoral purposes.”

Greene recognized some positive outcomes in the partial ruin of his Clapham family home. Rather than being a personal tragedy, it released him from the financial burden of a mortgage and precluded living with his wife and children. Journalist and writer Malcolm Muggeridge was a contemporary of Greene’s, and their wartime careers progressed in tandem. They worked at the Ministry of Information by day and as fire wardens at night, sharing sausage suppers at Greene’s mews flat near the ministry. Muggeridge later described the Blitz as “a kind of protracted debauch, with the shape of orderly living shattered, all restraints moved.” He saw Greene soon after his home’s partial destruction and reported him quite unperturbed by its demise. Later in their careers, after training, SIS would post Greene to Sierra Leone and Muggeridge to Mozambique. During the war, they would work as intelligence colleagues in St. Albans and London.3

Aesthetic aspects of the London Blitz enthralled both men. There were nightly blackouts to confound Luftwaffe navigators, while wailing sirens announced incoming raids. Defensive searchlights, falling incendiary devices, and buildings in flames lit up the night sky. The intermittent explosion of landing bombs alternated with the rattle of ground-based antiaircraft fire. This sensory overload brought a welcome distraction from boredom and stimulated the manic side of Greene’s personality. Despite long and dull interludes, “moments of excitement [and] beauty” interrupted them. He described stargazing as he strolled down the middle of an empty Oxford Street, as incendiary devices floated down like “chandelier flares.”4 In fact, the random nature of bombing and death mimicked the Russian roulette he had played in his youth. Any one of Hitler’s bombs could have ended his life in a flash.

Infidelity had already saved him once. When a bomb wrecked his Clapham home, he was in Dorothy Glover’s company in Bloomsbury. Risk added frisson to their illicit relationship—and particularly their lovemaking. With his wife and children evacuated to the countryside, the couple enjoyed nights of the Blitz together, the earth literally moving beneath them. Greene would later recall how the dawn sound of brushes sweeping up broken glass provided the realization they had survived another night’s bombing.5

It was in this period that SIS vetted Greene, although he was initially unaware of his induction into the world of secret intelligence. Spying, however, was not new to him or his family. At Oxford in 1924, he had initiated contact with the German embassy and proposed a fact-finding trip to explore conditions in the occupied Ruhr, where the French were attempting to set up a separatist “Revolver Republic” due to the nonpayment of World War I indemnities to France and Belgium. With the embassy’s consent and funding, he traveled to the Rhine with two German-speaking companions, his cousin Tooter and Claud Cockburn. Their boyish escapade led to the publication of a pro-German propaganda piece in the Oxford Chronicle to gratify their financial sponsors.6 The foreign jaunts to Germany and France (as a pseudo-communist) in his final two years at Oxford demonstrated a predilection for adventures abroad when paid for by somebody else. An uncle, also Graham Greene (1857–1950), had worked in the Foreign Intelligence Department from 1885, and later as a close adviser to First Lord of the Admiralty Winston Churchill during the First World War.7 In the 1930s, his younger brother Hugh probably undertook intelligence work for the British government while Berlin correspondent for the Daily Telegraph.

HERBERT GREENE AND INTELLIGENCE

One older brother was definitely a spy for Japan in the mid-1930s. Herbert was the black sheep of the family and had been an embarrassment to them for years, traipsing around the world to fail in one fanciful scheme after another. Through family connections in the late 1920s, he worked in Brazil and Argentina in South America but proved generally irresponsible, especially with money. With his father’s financial support, he moved onto Southern Rhodesia, where a tobacco farm collapsed and a chicken farm crashed when TB killed all the chickens.8

MI5 documents at the National Archives in Kew Gardens reveal how Herbert first approached the Japanese military attaché in London in January 1934 with an offer to spy for them. He told Captain Arata Oka about his family connections, including his uncle Sir Graham Greene, former permanent secretary at the Admiralty, and his five years’ experience working for another uncle’s coffee business in South America. The Japanese naval attaché saw an advantage in Herbert’s suggestion of a posting to the “America of the almighty dollar.” Once there, he could “mingle with big men in public life” and report back to Tokyo on the U.S. navy’s strength. Furthermore, through his membership in the Queen’s Club, a private sports club in West Kensington, he enjoyed “the entrée to any society.” The Japanese codenamed their new man in London MIDORIKAWA, or “green river” in English.9 They soon discovered he was a river that ran dry.

The British intelligence services soon became aware of Herbert Greene’s activities, because he provided the information to MI5 himself. He offered to supply intelligence on the Japanese to the American naval attaché, and then pass everything to the British. His foolhardy triple-agent plan appalled MI5 and they implored him to abandon it, not least because he lacked the slightest ability to carry it out. He was unhappy about their rejection of his offer and their instruction to return the £150 (£10,000) in £5 notes already received from Captain Oka for services rendered.10 Further MI5 research into his background in Who’s Who discovered he was one of four sons of Berkhamsted School headmaster Charles Henry Greene. It also revealed that one of his brothers was Graham Greene, sub-editor of The Times from 1926 to 1930, and now an author. An official commented that the Greenes were “a gifted family.”11

The least gifted among them was feckless Herbert, particularly in the intelligence world. When MI5 operatives tailed his movements around London, they found he was spending excessive amounts of time in public houses and with Japanese friends at the Queen’s Club. The morning of August 15, 1934, started with a fifteen-minute walk with his dog at 8:25 a.m., a thirty-minute visit to the club with his dog at 10:40 a.m., and then a visit to the Bell and Anchor public house. Afterward, he took a bus to Piccadilly, where he loitered in the vicinity before entering the Sutherland public house. He then posted several letters in a pillar box, loitered again, and returned to the same pub. After a visit to the Dutch Club, he returned once more to the Sutherland. At midday, he “surreptitiously” handed a letter to a newspaper vendor, before calling in at five separate pubs: the Rayners, the Cock and Lion, the Pontefract Castle, the Bunch of Grapes, and the Three Compasses. After using a public telephone at Marble Arch Station, he returned to his Barons Court home, took his dog for two afternoon walks, and made a final evening visit to the Queen’s Club.12

His meager intelligence yield led Captain Oka to inform his unproductive agent in December 1934 that he would be reducing his monthly pay to £30 (£2,000) because he was “rather disappointed with the results.” Several of Oka’s English friends had in fact supplied the naval attaché with better information, all of it free of charge, and leading to far superior pro-Japanese propaganda in British newspapers.13

A few years later, in 1937, Herbert lent his dubious espionage talents to the Republican side in the Spanish Civil War. He set out three times that year from the East Sussex port of Newhaven, driving down to Spain through France, the last time in his Morris 8.14 These experiences led to his only published book, Secret Agent in Spain, reviewed rather negatively by Malcolm Muggeridge in the Daily Telegraph in 1938.15 In order to publicize the book, the British Communist Party’s newspaper had published a sensationalist report on its front page, headlined “‘I was in the pay of Japan’: A Secret Agent Tells His Story to The Daily Worker.” It reported how a high-ranking British Admiralty official’s nephew had been receiving “expenses” to the tune of £800 (£52,000) per year for espionage work on Japan’s behalf. The resulting pro-Japanese propaganda in the “incorruptible” British press principally targeted the United States.16 According to a letter from Greene to younger brother Hugh, his Berkhamsted School and Oxford University contemporary Claud Cockburn had written the story. He was diplomatic correspondent for the Daily Worker and had spent time in Spain alongside Herbert, reporting on the country’s civil war under the pseudonym Frank Pitcairn. Instead of paying Herbert for the story, he had added insult to injury by borrowing five shillings from him.17

In November 1937, the hapless Herbert Greene called at the Admiralty “in a state of considerable agitation and poured out an incoherent story.” Creditors were chasing him and he was about to be declared bankrupt. After giving up “a good job with the Japanese Attaché at the express wishes of the Admiralty,” he now wanted them to intercede with his creditors and find him employment. After all, he was “well qualified” for a job. During his three trips to Spain, he had made the acquaintance of several “Admiralty men” who were “fools.” Could they help? They could not, and they warned him about making unsubstantiated public statements about the Admiralty.18

Herbert’s personnel file at MI5 grew bulkier during the course of the Second World War. Early in the war he served in the Pioneer Corps, but “gave a great deal of trouble” and was “considered unreliable in every way.” He was also suffering from a serious drinking problem. He wrote to army officials in July 1940 from Huyton Camp near Liverpool, begging for release from his posting at a “semi-penal battalion.” In a fit of desperation, he listed for army authorities a series of misdemeanors he wished to bring to their attention:

*His commanding officer was forging mileage claims.

*Adjutant and warrant officers were drinking rum intended for dispatch riders.

*Officers were tampering with gasoline stocks and using them for private purposes.

*Officers were drawing both their own and the men’s meat rations.

Suffice to say, with such a bounder in their midst, the army authorities discharged Private Herbert Greene on medical grounds in October 1941 and declared him “permanently unfit for military service.”19 That did not deter him from approaching MI5 again in 1942, when one official described him as “a general nuisance and, judging from his past, a dangerous man.” With considerable justification, they decided the service “should keep right out of any dealings with him.” However, they continued to trail Herbert Greene. By September 1942, the East Sussex Constabulary was unable to detect any suspicious activities. He appeared to be lying low, cycling the county’s country lanes to gather food for his burgeoning colony of rabbits. Herbert was still frequenting public houses by day, but he wasn’t conversing with troops or discussing the war or politics with fellow drinkers.20

When a member of MI5 spoke to Hugh Greene in 1943 about sensational press reports concerning espionage for the Japanese by a man with his surname, he admitted without hesitation that Herbert was his brother. He advised the official to place “little reliance” on the accuracy of his intelligence. Furthermore, while his brother “was not a reliable or a pleasant character,” neither was he a “danger to security.” Reports later in the year described Herbert working satisfactorily with his wife at a hostel for evacuee children at Reigate. At that point, the intelligence reports in Herbert Greene’s personal file run dry.21

Graham himself must have learned about Herbert’s degenerate activities from the press, his brother Hugh, and Claud Cockburn. Herbert inspired the character Anthony Farrant in his brother’s 1935 novel England Made Me, about a scoundrel who involves himself in one dodgy scheme after another as he chases an elusive fortune.22 One of Farrant’s former occupations is that of vacuum cleaner salesman, sharing that profession of course with Greene’s later Havana-based character James Wormold. Three years after the publication of England Made Me, Greene received a visit at his Clapham home from bohemian hack and Fitzrovia barfly Julian Maclaren-Ross. He startled Greene when he told the author how he dabbled in door-to-door vacuum cleaner sales in Bognor Regis, carrying the unassembled parts of the appliance in a golf bag.23 Maclaren-Ross’s later novel Of Love and Hunger (1947) portrayed this world of domestic vacuum cleaner sales in coastal West Sussex towns, involving doorstep attempts to charm skeptical housewives and housekeepers into accepting a “dem”—a living room demonstration of a deftly assembled appliance. During one such dem in Maclaren-Ross’s novel, one stubborn gatekeeper tells the principal salesman of the novel, Richard Fanshawe:

“But I don’t understand. I had the carpet cleaned. Two days ago. I had a woman in.”

“This dirt didn’t accumulate in two days, Miss Tuke,” I told her. “It’s been in your carpet for years. The ordinary methods of cleaning won’t remove it.”

His sales pitch continues as he tries to persuade Miss Tuke, against her better judgment, to buy a vacuum cleaner through an installment plan.24 In such a way, the worlds of his feckless brother Herbert and dubious salesmanship combined to implant themselves in Graham Greene’s subconscious two decades before he penned Our Man in Havana.

Yet when he came to describe the gestation of his character James Wormold, an amateur spy with little inherent talent for the profession, Greene failed to mention his brother Herbert. Conspicuous by its absence is any reference to his brother’s ineffectual intelligence efforts in anything the novelist wrote about the creation of Our Man in Havana and the novel’s deceitful agent Wormold. When inventing him, however, he must surely have had Herbert in mind. He evidently chose to remain resolutely loyal to his brother by never mentioning Herbert in the same breath as his fictional spy with inventive tendencies.

Greene did join forces with younger brother Hugh in 1957 to ridicule their older sibling in their tongue-in-cheek anthology of espionage writing, The Spy’s Bedside Book. The collection contains all sorts of fanciful tales, most of them from well-known authors and adventurers such as Ian Fleming and his brother Peter, T. E. Lawrence, and W. Somerset Maugham, all of whom dabbled in and/or had written about the intelligence profession. The Spy’s Bedside Book blurs the border between fiction and nonfiction in a comical yet troubling fashion. While many of its tales are on the face of it ludicrous, some possess a kernel of truth. Among its many bizarre tales about espionage through the ages is one contribution from Herbert Greene’s Secret Agent in Spain under the subheading “A Spy Advertises.” It reads:

To anyone whom it may concern: I think it advisable to state that I have no documents of any importance in my own possession in connection with any other country of work I have undertaken. I am making this statement as, on January 4th, 1938, a friend and I left a certain Embassy in London. We were followed to Victoria Station, where I caught the 5.35 train. From then on, my memory is a blank until I found myself in hospital the following morning. Some papers of mine were missing. I will let the Mid-Sussex Times complete the story:

ACCIDENT IN MID-SUSSEX

Mr W.H. Greene, of Oak Cottage, Plumpton, is in the Haywards Heath Hospital suffering from head injuries sustained in a motor accident at Plumpton last week. He was found lying unconscious near his damaged car.

—Herbert Greene25

Perhaps this was no accident, and British intelligence services targeted the treacherous Greene brother, inordinately keen to advertise his role as a spy. On another occasion, according to Secret Agent in Spain, “a very high official” had told Herbert at the Admiralty: “I am warning you, Greene, that if you are not more careful you will some day find yourself in the Thames.”26 While little that Herbert ever said is credible, he was indeed involved in a motor accident that left him feeling sorry for himself. He remained unapologetic about his rogue spying activities.27
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